
         

 

 

 

FLORIDA GREEN  
FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
JUNE 8, 2023 

2:00 P.M. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    



AGENDA 
FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 

Mangonia Park Municipal Center 
1755 East Tiffany Drive, 

Mangonia Park, Florida 33407 
1-877-873-8017  

Access #9758310 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

June 8, 2023 
2:00 p.m. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication ....................................................................................................................................... Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Consider Resolution No. 2023-03 – Reorganizing the Board ................................................................. Page 2 

E. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

F. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

G. Approval of Minutes 

1. March 2, 2023 Regular Board Meeting ................................................................................................. Page 4 

H. Status/Program Update – Information Report… ...................................................................................... Page 8 

a. Residential 
b. Commercial 

I. Old Business 

J. New Business 

1. Consider Resolution No. 2023-04 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2021/2022 Amended Budget ............ Page 16 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-05 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Proposed Budget ............. Page 21 

3. Discussion of Palm Beach County Litigation Re: Florida PACE Funding Agency and 
 Direction on Amicus Curiae Brief .................................................................................................... Page 30 

K. Administrative Matters 

L. Board Member Comments 

M. Adjourn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Miscellaneous Notices 
Published in The Palm Beach Post on June 1, 2023 

Location 
Palm Beach County, Florida 
Notice Text 
NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE 
AUTHORITY NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Supervisors ( Board ) 
of the Florida Green Finance Authority ( Authority ) will hold a Regular Board 
Meeting on June 8, 2023, at 2:00 P.M. (EST) at the Town of Mangonia Park 
Municipal Center located at 1755 East Tiffany Drive, Mangonia Park, Florida 
33407. 
The purpose of this meeting is to conduct any business coming before the 
Board. The meeting is open to the public and will be conducted in accordance 
with the provisions of Florida law. A copy of the Agenda for this meeting may 
be obtained from the Authority s website or by contacting the Authority 
Manager at 561-630-4922 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 prior to the 
meeting. 
Such meeting will involve the use of Communications Media Technology. 
Members of the public may attend and participate in the meeting from the 
Actual Meeting Location, as well as Remote Meeting Locations. Said locations 
where members of the public may attend and participate are as follows: 
Palm Beach County, FL: Town of Mangonia Park Municipal Center (Actual 
Meeting Location) 
1755 East Tiffany Drive 
Mangonia Park, FL 33407 
Sarasota County, FL: City of North Port City Hall (Remote Meeting Location) 
4970 City Hall Boulevard, Room 244 
North Port, FL 34286 
If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter 
considered at this meeting, such person will need a record of the proceedings 
and such person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made at his or her own expense and which record includes the 
testimony and evidence on which the appeal is based. 
In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any 
person requiring special accommodations or an interpreter to participate at 
this meeting should contact the Authority Manager at 561-630-4922 and/or 
toll free at 1-877-737-4922 at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the 
meeting. 
Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 
FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 
www.flgfa.org 
06-01/2023 Page 1



 

  

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE FLORIDA GREEN 
FINANCE AUTHORITY, REORGANIZING THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS TO 
APPOINT THE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022/2023 AND 
CONTINUING THE DELEGATION OF THE ROLES OF SECRETARY AND 
TREASURER TO STAFF; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES. 

 
WHEREAS, the original Interlocal Agreement Between the Florida Green Finance Authority, The 

Town of Lantana and the Town of Mangonia Park established that the Town Manager of Lantana, or 
designee, shall serve as the Chair of the Authority Board for the initial four (4) year term and that a 
representative of Mangonia Park shall serve as the Vice Chair of the Authority Board for the initial four (4) 
year term; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Second Amended and Restated Interlocal Agreement Forming the Florida Green 

Finance Authority (“ILA”) states that the Authority shall be governed by a seven (7) member Board of 
Directors; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority Board reached its full seven (7) member capacity for the first time since 

inception in April 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, the ILA requires that the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) be governed by a Chair, a Vice 

Chair, a Secretary and a Treasurer; and  
 
WHEREAS, the ILA provides that the Secretary and Treasurer officer roles may be delegated to a 

member of Staff; and  
 
WHEREAS, the ILA requires that the Chair and Vice-Chair be elected from the current Board 

membership for a term of one (1) year to commence on October 1st of each year; and   
 
WHEREAS, the ILA requires that the Board reorganize no later than September 30th of each year for 

the subsequent fiscal year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board desires to make the following appointments in accordance with the ILA. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 

FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS:  
 
SECTION 1. The Board of Supervisors of the Florida Green Finance Authority hereby appoints 

_______________________________________________ as Chair of the Board of Supervisors, effective 
October 1, 2022. This appointment shall remain valid for one (1) year.  

 
SECTION 2. The Board of Supervisors of the Florida Green Finance Authority hereby appoints 

_______________________________________________ as Vice Chair of the Board of Supervisors, 
effective October 1, 2022. This appointment shall remain valid for one (1) year. 

 

Page 2



 -2- 
 

SECTION 3. The Board of Supervisors of the Florida Green Finance Authority hereby continues the 
delegation of the officer roles of Secretary and Treasurer to Todd Wodraska, Special District Services, Inc., 
or his designee. This delegation shall remain valid for one (1) year. 

 
SECTION 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.  

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 8th day of June, 2023.  

 
 
FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY  
 
By: ______________________________ 

Authority Chairman  
ATTEST:  
 
______________________________ 
Andrew Karmeris, Authority Secretary  
 
 
Approved as to form and legal sufficiency 
 
___________________________________  
Keith W. Davis, Authority General Counsel 

Page 3



MINUTES 
FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY  

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MARCH 2, 2023 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

District Manager Andrew Karmeris called the March 2, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the 
Florida Green Finance Authority to order at 2:02 p.m. at the Town of Lantana, 500 Greynolds 
Circle Lantana, Florida 33462.   
 

B. Proof of Publication 

Proof of publication was presented showing that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Palm Beach Post,  Osceola News Gazette, Sarasota Herald-Tribune, and 
Pensacola News Journal on February 22, 2023, as legally required. 
 
 
C. Establish Quorum 

A quorum was established with the following Supervisors present: 
 

Supervisor Jurisdiction  

Chairman Ken Metcalf Town of Mangonia Park Present 

Vice Chair Nicole Dritz Town of Lantana Present 

Dave Robau City of Pensacola Present (via telephone) 

Nancy Gallinaro City of North Port Present (via telephone) 

 
Others present at the meeting included: 
 

Staff Member Company/Agency 
Andrew Karmeris  Special District Services 
Mitty Barnard  Davis & Associates, P.A. 
Bill Capko Lewis, Longman & Walker 
Chelsey Olsen Renew Financial 

 
Others appearing by phone included: 
 

Staff Member Company/Agency 
Erin Deady Petros Partners 
Aaron Palajac Renew Financial 

Page 4



Matthew Choy Renew Financial 
Jennifer Rojo-Suarez Renew Financial 

 

D. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

 
There we no comments from the Public.  
 
F. Approval of Minutes  

 
a. September 1, 2022 Regular Board Meeting  

 
There was a motion made by Vice Chair Dritz, seconded by Chairman Metcalf, to approve the 
minutes of the September 1, 2022 Regular Board Meeting, as presented.  The Board was polled: 
 

Supervisor Jurisdiction Vote 

Chairman Ken Metcalf Town of Mangonia Park Yes 

Vice Chair Nicole Dritz Town of Lantana Yes  

Dave Robau City of Pensacola Yes 

Nancy Gallinaro City of North Port Yes 

 
The motion carried 4-0. 
 
G. Status/Program Update – Information Report 

 
a. Residential  

Ms. Chelsey Olsen provided a program update by reviewing the materials in the agenda package 
and mentioned the departure of Ygrene operations from Florida.  She then stated there is talk of 
Ygrene restarting Florida operations. Ms. Olsen also provided an update on the marketing efforts 
and programs being implemented by Renew Financial.  
 
Mr. Matthew Choy provided some information regarding State and Federal legislation.  
 
Ms. Jennifer Rojo-Suarez provided an update on jurisdictions and Palm Beach County.  
 

b. Commercial 

 
Ms. Erin Deady also commented on State and Federal legislation as well as Charlotte county 
terminated residential PACE.     

Page 5



H.   Old Business 
 

There were no Old Business items to be addressed. 
 

I.     New Business  
 

1.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-01 – Authorizing Administrator’s Request to 
Assign a Third Party the Authority to Close and Fund the Acquisition of Bonds 
or Obligations Under the Administration Services Agreement 

 
Mr. Aaron Palajac presented Resolution No. 2023-01 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE FLORIDA GREEN 
FINANCE AUTHORITY (“FGFA”), AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING 
ADMINISTRATOR’S (AS DEFINED BELOW) REQUEST TO ASSIGN TO A THIRD 
PARTY THE AUTHORITY TO CLOSE AND FUND THE ACQUISITION OF THE 
BONDS OR OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE ADMINISTRATION SERVICES 
AGREEMENT (AS DEFINED BELOW); PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN OTHER 
MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE, 
AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.  
 
 
Vice Chair Dritz had questions about the Administrative Services Agreement.  Ms. Mitty Barnard 
answered all questions. Vice Chair Dritz then asked if next time the full agreement could be 
presented as an agreement.   
 
There was a motion made by Vice Chair Dritz, seconded by Chairman Metcalf, to approve 
Resolution No. 2023-01, as presented.  The Board was polled: 
 

Supervisor Jurisdiction Vote 

Chairman Ken Metcalf Town of Mangonia Park Yes 

Vicechair Nicole Dritz Town of Lantana Yes  

Dave Robau City of Pensacola Yes 

Nancy Gallinaro City of North Port Yes 

 
The motion carried 4-0. 
 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-02 – Authorizing the Chairman to Execute the First 
Amendment to Commercial PACE Program Administrative Services Agreement 
by and Between the FGFA and Petros PACE Administrator, LLC 

 
Ms. Mitty Barnard presented Resolution No. 2023-02 

Page 6



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE FLORIDA GREEN 
FINANCE AUTHORITY, AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS TO EXECUTE A CERTAIN “FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
COMMERCIAL PACE PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION SERVICES AGREEMENT BY 
AND BETWEEN THE FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY AND PETROS PACE 
ADMINISTRATOR, LLC” WHICH AMENDMENT PROVIDES FOR CLARIFICATION 
WITHIN THE INDEMNIFICATION PROVISION TO ENSURE A UNIFIED DEFENSE 
TO CLAIMS AGAINST THE PARTIES; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
Vice Chair Dritz asked to see a copy of this agreement as well.    
 
There was a motion made by Vice Chair Dritz, seconded by Supervisor Gallinaro, to approve 
Resolution No. 2023-02, as presented.  The Board was polled: 
 

Supervisor Jurisdiction Vote 

Chairman Ken Metcalf Town of Mangonia Park Yes 

Vicechair Nicole Dritz Town of Lantana Yes  

Dave Robau City of Pensacola Yes 

Nancy Gallinaro City of North Port Yes 

 
The motion carried 4-0. 
 
J.   Administrative Matters 
 
There were no Administrative matters to discuss.  

 
K.  Board Member Comments 
 
Vice Chair Dritz asked for executive summaries for each agenda item going forward and for a 
summary of all Petros deals.  
 
L.   Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:43 p.m. after a motion by Chairman Metcalf, and a second by 
Vice Chair Dritz.  The motion carried 4-0.  
 
 
 
__________________________________  __________________________________ 
       Chairman/Vice Chair     Secretary/Asst. Secretary 

Page 7



 

1 

 

INFORMATION REPORT 

 

DATE:  JUNE 8, 2023   

FGFA PROGRAM: RENEWPACE – PROPERTY ASSESSED CLEAN ENERGY 
PROGRAM 

PURPOSE:  

I. UPDATE ON RENEWPACE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAM 

II. UPDATE ON MARKETING EFFORTS 

III. UPDATE ON STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION  

IV. UPDATE ON RPACE ENROLLED JURISDICTIONS 

V. UPDATE ON TAX COLLECTOR AGREEMENTS 

 

BOARD MEMBERS:  
   CHAIR KEN METCALF, TOWN OF MANGONIA PARK  

VICE CHAIR NICOLE DRITZ, TOWN OF LANTANA  
   DAVE ROBAU, CITY OF PENSACOLA 

WAYNE MESSAM, CITY OF MIRAMAR 
NANCY GALLINARO, CITY OF NORTH PORT  
 

 
Background: 
 
RenewPACE is a Program of the Florida Green Finance Authority (the “Authority”) designed to 
offer communities, property owners and capital providers a multitude of options for investing in 
community improvements that save both energy and money. The Authority Board of Supervisors 
(“Board”) is being asked to hear or consider several items for the RenewPACE residential program, 
as well as administrative items related to the management of the Authority:  
 

Discussion:  
 
I. UPDATE ON RENEWPACE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAM  
 
Program Application Statistics (as of 05/04/2023) 
 
The program is contributing to the local goals of creating jobs and saving energy. 

Page 8



 

2 

 Jobs created: 9,026 
 Utility bill savings electricity (lifetime): $ 180,860,364 
 Utility bill savings natural gas (lifetime): $14,532,603 
 Lifetime energy generation & savings:  

o Renewable energy generated (kWh): 746,990,243 
o Energy saved (kWh): 158,262,092  
o Therms saved: 11,533,812 
o Green House Gas Reductions: 318,392 metric tons  

 
Below is a summary of program application statistics. 
 

As of 05/04/2023 8/5/2022 11/3/2022 2/13/2023 05/04/2023 

# Applications 69,021 76,973 83,042 88,041 

Total App Value $1,739,080,967 $1,998,847,438 $2,200,510,414 $2,373,070,878 
Average Assessment 
Value  

$22,161 $23,126 $23,767 $24,717 

Notice to Proceed 
(#/$)* 

27,782 / 
$701,825,826 

31,373 / 
$826,930,723 

33,590 / 
$903,820,787 

35,225 / 
$962,255,002 

Funded (#/$) 17,450 / 
$399,869,004 

19,133 / 
$447,370,689 

21,619 / 
$527,311,924 

23,699 / 
$596,342,801 

# Active Contractors  428 605 687 734 

# Counties Approved 
(RPACE) 

25 25 25 25 

*Inclusive of funded projects 
 

  

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

Q
2
 2
0
16

Q
3
 2
0
16

Q
4
 2
0
16

Q
1
 2
0
17

Q
2
 2
0
17

Q
3
 2
0
17

Q
4
 2
0
17

Q
1
 2
0
18

Q
2
 2
0
18

Q
3
 2
0
18

Q
4
 2
0
18

Q
1
 2
0
19

Q
2
 2
0
19

Q
3
 2
0
19

Q
4
 2
0
19

Q
1
 2
0
20

Q
2
 2
0
20

Q
3
 2
0
20

Q
4
 2
0
20

Q
1
 2
0
21

Q
2
 2
0
21

Q
3
 2
0
21

Q
4
 2
0
21

Q
1
 2
0
22

Q
2
 2
0
22

Q
3
 2
0
22

Q
4
 2
0
22

Q
1
 2
0
23

Q
2
 2
0
23

Apps Received, NTP, Funded

App Count NTP Count Funded Count

Page 9



 

3 

 

  
*Q1 2023 up to 2/13/2023 
 

As of 05/04/2023 # of 
Applications 

Total Application 
Value 

NTP # / $* Funded (#/$) 

Town of Mangonia Park 15 $480,814 10 / $347,777 7 / $153,809 

Town of Lantana  245 $6,633,335 104 / $2,719,743 70 / $1,787,169 

City of Pensacola  80 $2,283,701 5 / $101,088 1 / $28,608  

City of Miramar  2,419 $74,651,100 1,017 / $33,903,431 584 / $17,769,665 

City of North Port 601 $12,677,371 257 / $4,555,308 207 / $3,371,246 

*Inclusive of funded projects 
 
Applications have been submitted for a range of products including air source heat pumps, 
insulation, duct replacement, water heaters, windows, wind-resistant shingles, storm windows, storm 
shutters, doors, central air conditioners, solar, and roofs. 
 

Renewable Energy Project % Energy Efficiency Project % Safety & Resilience Project % 

22% 15% 63% 
 
Program Policy Updates 
 

Page 10



 

4 

Per Resolution 2016-03 (Section 9), the Board authorized the Program Administrator to amend the 
Residential Handbook from time to time. Per Exhibit A of the Third-Party Administration Services 
Agreement Section I.3.a.iv, Renew Financial is responsible for maintaining “Program Application & 
Funding Request Forms”. The following is a brief summary of the updates. Renew Financial has 
provided an opportunity for review of the policy details to the standard working group that includes 
Special District Services, legal counsels, and key partners prior to implementing any new policy. 
 

 
Consumer Complaints 
 
Renew Financial tracks consumer complaints. There are currently 44 unresolved complaints. 
Complaints are addressed through outreach to the property owner(s) and contractor (if applicable). 
Complaints were resolved in an average of 43 calendar days. Renew Financial makes every effort to 
address and resolve issues quickly. Delays in resolution may occur depending on availability of the 
parties and degree of the complaint. Resolution resulted in a variety of actions including, but not 
limited to, additional training of contractor, confirmation of key terms with property owner, 
withdraw of application at request of property owner, and refund of a portion of the cost to the 
property owner by the contractor. 
 
Below is a brief summary of complaints (as of 05/04/2023): 

 Number of complaints received and resolved since program launch in 2016: 960 
 Complaint Rate: 4% 
 Contractors involved in complaints: 774 
 Most common categories of complaints: Workmanship; Delayed/Incomplete Projects  

   
II. UPDATE ON MARKETING EFFORTS  
 
Any updates will be provided at the Authority Board meeting. 

 
III. UPDATE ON STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION  
 
Any updates will be provided at the Authority Board meeting. 
  
IV. UPDATE ON ENROLLED JURISDICTIONS (see list on the following pages)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

5 

Map of Residential Opt-Ins:  
 

 

 

Page 12



 

6 

BROWARD  
 Coconut Creek* 
 Cooper City* 
 Coral Springs* 
 Dania Beach* 
 Davie* 
 Deerfield Beach* 
 Fort Lauderdale 
 Hallandale Beach* 
 Hillsboro Beach* 
 Hollywood* 
 Lauderdale-by-the-Sea* 
 Lauderdale Lakes* 
 Lauderhill* 
 Lazy Lake* 
 Lighthouse Point* 
 Margate  
 Miramar 
 North Lauderdale* 
 Oakland Park* 
 Parkland* 
 Pembroke Park* 
 Pembroke Pines 
 Plantation* 
 Pompano Beach 
 Sea Ranch Lakes* 
 Southwest Ranches* 
 Sunrise* 
 Tamarac* 
 Weston* 
 West Park* 
 Wilton Manors* 
 Unincorporated County* 

 
CHARLOTTE (CPACE) 

 Punta Gorda 
 Unincorporated County 

 
 

CITRUS  
 Inverness* 
 Crystal River* 
 Unincorporated County 

 
COLLIER 

 Naples 
 Unincorporated County 

(CPACE) 
 
COLUMBIA 

 Unincorporated County 
(CPACE) 

 
ESCAMBIA  

 Century (CPACE)  
 Pensacola 
 Unincorporated County 

(CPACE) 
 
HIGHLANDS 

 Sebring (CPACE)  
 Lake Placid (CPACE) 
 Avon Park (CPACE) 
 Unincorporated County 

(CPACE) 
 
INDIAN RIVER  

 Fellsmere 
 Sebastian  
 Unincorporated County 

(CPACE) 
 
JEFFERSON 

● Monticello* 
● Unincorporated County 

 
LAKE 

 Eustis (CPACE) 
 Leesburg 
 Mount Dora 

 
LEE 

 Bonita Springs 
 Cape Coral  
 Estero 
 Fort Myers 

 
LEVY 

 Fanning Springs 
 Williston 
 Unincorporated County 

 
MANATEE  

 Bradenton* 
 Bradenton Beach* 
 Palmetto* 
 Unincorporated County 

PALM BEACH  
 Atlantis* 
 Belle Glade* 
 Boca Raton* 
 Boynton Beach 
 Briny Breezes* 
 Cloud Lake* 
 Delray Beach 
 Glen Ridge* 
 Golf 
 Greenacres* 
 Gulfstream* 
 Haverhill* 
 Highland Beach* 
 Hypoluxo* 
 Juno Beach* 
 Jupiter* 
 Jupiter Inlet Colony* 
 Lake Clarke Shores* 
 Lake Park* 
 Lake Worth 
 Lantana 
 Loxahatchee Groves* 
 Manalapan* 
 Mangonia Park 
 North Palm Beach 
 Ocean Ridge* 
 Pahokee* 
 Palm Beach* 
 Palm Beach Gardens* 
 Palm Beach Shores 
 Palm Springs* 
 Riviera Beach*  
 Royal Palm Beach* 
 South Bay* 
 South Palm Beach* 
 Tequesta 
 Wellington* 
 West Lake* 
 West Palm Beach  
 Unincorporated County  

 
POLK 

 Haines City 
 Lake Wales 

 
PASCO 

 Port Richey 
 Zephyrhills 
 Unincorporated County 

 
PINELLAS 

 Gulfport (CPACE) 
 
SARASOTA 

 North Port* 
 Sarasota* 

Page 13



 

7 

 
MARION  

 Unincorporated County 
 

MARTIN  
 Sewall’s Point 
 Stuart 
 Unincorporated County 

 
MIAMI-DADE 

 Aventura 
 Biscayne Park 
 Coral Gables 
 Cutler Bay  
 Doral 
 El Poral 
 Hialeah 
 Hialeah Gardens 
 Homestead 
 Key Biscayne  
 Medley 
 Miami 
 Miami Beach 
 Miami Gardens 
 Miami Lakes 
 Miami Shores Village 
 Miami Springs 
 North Bay Village 
 North Miami 
 North Miami Beach 
 Opa-Locka 
 Palmetto Bay 
 Pinecrest 
 Surfside 
 Sweetwater 
 Virginia Gardens 
 West Miami 
 Unincorporated County 

	
MONROE 

 Islamorada* 
 Key Colony Beach*  
 Key West* 
 Layton* 
 Marathon* 
 Unincorporated County 

 
NASSAU 

 Fernandina Beach 
 
OKEECHOBEE 

 Okeechobee 

 Venice* 
 Unincorporated County 

 
SEMINOLE  

 Longwood 
 Oviedo 
 Sanford 

 
ST. JOHNS 

 Unincorporated County (CPACE) 
 
SUWANNEE 

 Branford 
 Live Oak 
 Unincorporated County  

 
VOLUSIA 

 Daytona Beach Shores 
 Edgewater 
 New Smyrna Beach 
 Orange City  
 Port Orange  

 
WALTON 

 Unincorporated County (CPACE) 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

8 

 
1 Those jurisdictions denoted with an asterisk became Parties to the Authority through the County’s Interlocal 
Agreement. 
 
2 Please note that with regard to Sebastian that while it had signed onto the Original ILA, we are currently in extended 
discussions with this jurisdiction about signing onto to the updated Second Amended and Restated ILA. Until we 
finalize these discussions we have verbally agreed not to activate residential PACE in the jurisdiction until those 
discussions have concluded. 
 
V. UPDATE ON TAX COLLECTOR AGREEMENTS 
 
Uniform Collection Agreements are currently in place with the following county Tax Collector’s 
offices: Alachua, Brevard, Broward, Charlotte, Citrus, Collier, Escambia, Hernando, Highlands, 
Hillsborough, Indian River, Lake, Lee, Levy, Manatee, Marion (re-executed), Martin, Miami-Dade, 
Monroe, Nassau, Okeechobee, Orange, Osceola, Palm Beach, Pasco, Pinellas, Polk, Sarasota, 
Seminole, St. Johns, Suwannee, and Volusia.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Unincorporated County 
 
ORANGE  

 Apopka 
 Belle Isle 
 Orlando 
 Winter Garden (CPACE) 
 Winter Haven (CPACE) 
 Winter Park 
 Unincorporated County 

(CPACE) 
 
OSCEOLA  

 Kissimmee* 
 St. Cloud* 
 Unincorporated County 

Page 15



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING AND 
ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022 
BUDGET (“AMENDED BUDGET”), PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 189, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Florida Green Finance Authority is 
empowered to provide a funding source and to impose special assessments upon the properties 
within the District; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Florida Green Finance Authority has prepared for consideration and 
approval an Amended Budget. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY, THAT: 
  

                  Section 1. The Amended Budget for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A” is hereby approved and adopted. 

 
 Section 2. The Secretary/Assistant Secretary of the Florida Green Finance Authority 

is authorized to execute any and all necessary transmittals, certifications or other 
acknowledgements or writings, as necessary, to comply with the intent of this Resolution. 

 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 8th day of June, 2023. 
 

 

ATTEST: FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 
  
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 
 

Page 16



 Florida Green 
 Finance Authority

Amended Final Budget For
Fiscal Year 2021/2022

October 1, 2021 - September 30, 2022

Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY, 
ADOPTING A PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the Florida Green Finance Authority 
is required to approve a Proposed Budget for each fiscal year; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Budget including the Assessments for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
has been prepared and considered by the Board. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY THAT:  
 

Section 1. The Proposed Budget including the Assessments for Fiscal Year 
2023/2024 attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is approved and adopted. 
 

Section 2. A Public Hearing is hereby scheduled for       , 2023 
at 2:00 p.m. located at           
                 , for 
the purpose of receiving public comments on the Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget. 

 
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 8th day of June, 2023. 
 

 
ATTEST:     FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________  _____________________________ 
Secretary      Chairman 

 
APPROVED FOR FORM AND 
LEGAL SUFFICIENCY 

 
 

_________________________ 
Attorney 

Page 21



 Florida Green
Finance Authority

Proposed Budget For
Fiscal Year 2023/2024

October 1, 2023 - September 30, 2024

Page 22



CONTENTS

I PROPOSED BUDGET

II DETAILED PROPOSED BUDGET

III COMMERCIAL BUDGET

IV RESIDENTIAL BUDGET

V PARTICIPANTS

VI COMMERCIAL BONDS

Page 23



PROPOSED BUDGET
 FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024
OCTOBER 1, 2023 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
(Combined Commercial and Residential)

FISCAL YEAR 
2023/2024
BUDGET

REVENUES
Projected Carry Forward Surplus 100,000
O & M Funding Contributions 270,000
O & M Assessments (Commercial) 0
Loan Revenues (Residential) 18,540,000
Loan Revenues (Commercial) 0
Other Revenue - Commercial Closing Fees 10,000
Other Revenue - Administrator Cost Sharing 73,542
Interest Income 300
TOTAL REVENUES 18,993,842$                                                                                                

VARIABLE EXPENDITURES
Assessment Roll 201,670
Miscellaneous 10,000
TOTAL VARIABLE EXPENDITURES 211,670$                                                                                                     

FIXED EXPENDITURES
Management 38,134
Legal 57,000
Audit Fees 15,000
Insurance 3,900
Legal Advertisements 9,000
New County Set-up Fee 1,000
Dues & Subscriptions 1,200
Trustee Fees 4,000
Website Management 2,000
Miscellaneous - postage, office supplies, etc. 1,500
Financial Advisory Fees 10,000
TOTAL FIXED EXPENDITURES 142,734$                                                                                                     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 354,404$                                                                                                     

REVENUES LESS EXPENDITURES 18,639,438$                                                                                                

Loan Payments (Residential) (18,280,000)
Loan Payments (Commercial) 0

BALANCE 359,438$                                                                                                     

Fees (Residential) (260,000)
Fees (Commercial) 0

Excess/ (Shortfall) 99,438$                                                                                                       

Program Reinvestment (Residential) (100,000)
Program Reinvestment (Commercial) (10,000)

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) (10,562)$                                                                                                      

Projected Fiscal Year-End Fund Balance 89,438

Approx. Participants As Of June 2023: 20,176

Approx. Additions For 2023/2024: 7019

6/5/2023  5:07 PM I Page 24



DETAILED PROPOSED BUDGET
 FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024
OCTOBER 1, 2023 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
(Combined Commercial and Residential)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 
2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024
ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET COMMENTS

REVENUES
Projected Carry Forward Surplus 0 100,000 100,000
O & M Funding Contributions 147,907 211,864 270,000 FY 2022/2023 O&M Revenue As Of 5-31-23 Was $192,126

O & M Assessments (Commercial) 265 0 0 BrandsMart Has Paid Off 2015-1 Bond
Loan Revenues (Residential) 19,681,088 18,000,000 18,540,000 Loan Revenues (Residential)

Loan Revenues (Commercial) 1,581,078 0 0 Loan Revenues (Commercial)

Other Revenue - Commercial Closing Fees 185,098 10,000 10,000
Other Revenue - Administrator Cost Sharing 49,804 73,542 73,542
Interest Income 58 300 300 Interest Estimated At $25 Per Month
TOTAL REVENUES 21,645,298$    18,395,706$     18,993,842$      

VARIABLE EXPENDITURES
Assessment Roll 139,805 131,010 201,670 20,176 X $10 - Based On Approximate Participants 

Miscellaneous 84,941 9,516 10,000 Miscellaneous
TOTAL VARIABLE EXPENDITURES 224,746$         140,526$          211,670$           

FIXED EXPENDITURES
Management 36,000 37,080 38,134 CPI (Capping at 3%) Increase per Contract
Legal 36,059 57,000 57,000 No Change From 2022/2023 Budget
Audit Fees 13,000 15,000 15,000 No Change From 2022/2023 Budget
Insurance 3,424 3,900 3,900 Insurance Estimate
Legal Advertisements 4,413 12,000 9,000 $3,000 Decrease From 2022/2023 Budget
New County Set-up Fee 6,000 3,000 1,000 Estimated At One New County
Dues & Subscriptions 800 1,200 1,200 No Change From 2022/2023 Budget
Trustee Fees 0 4,000 4,000 Decreased Due To 2015-1 Bond Payoff
Website Management 1,500 2,000 2,000 No Change From 2022/2023 Budget
Miscellaneous - postage, office supplies, etc. 1,585 0 1,500
Financial Advisory Fees 0 10,000 10,000 Financial Advisory Fees
TOTAL FIXED EXPENDITURES 102,781$         145,180$          142,734$           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 327,527$         285,706$          354,404$           

REVENUES LESS EXPENDITURES 21,317,771$    18,110,000$     18,639,438$      

Loan Payments (Residential) (19,372,978) (17,750,000) (18,280,000) Loan Payments (Residential)
Loan Payments (Commercial) (1,545,007) 0 0 Loan Payments (Commercial)

BALANCE 399,786$         360,000$          359,438$           

Fees (Residential) (263,288) (250,000) (260,000) Fees (Residential)
Fees (Commercial) (49,793) 0 0 Fees (Commercial)

Excess/ (Shortfall) 86,705$           110,000$          99,438$             

Program Reinvestment (Residential) 0 (100,000) (100,000) Program Reinvestment (Residential)
Program Reinvestment (Commercial) 0 (10,000) (10,000) Program Reinvestment (Commercial)

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 86,705$           -$                     (10,562)$           

Projected Fiscal Year-End Fund Balance 0 100,000 89,438

Approx. Participants As Of June 2023: 20,176

Approx. Additions For 2023/2024: 7019

6/5/2023  5:07 PM II Page 25



PROPOSED BUDGET
 FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024
OCTOBER 1, 2023 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

(Commercial Only)

FISCAL YEAR 
2023/2024

COMMERCIAL BUDGET

REVENUES
O & M Assessments (Commercial) 0
Bond/Loan Revenues (Commercial) See Commercial Bond Page
Other Revenue - Commercial Closing Fees 10,000
Other Revenue - Administrator Cost Sharing 73,542
Other Revenue - Buy In 0
TOTAL REVENUES 83,542$                                                                                                     

VARIABLE EXPENDITURES
Miscellaneous 1,000
TOTAL VARIABLE EXPENDITURES 1,000$                                                                                                       

FIXED EXPENDITURES
Management 19,067
Legal 28,500
Audit Fees 7,500
Insurance 1,950
Legal Advertisements 4,500
New County Set-up Fee 500
Dues 600
Trustee Fees 2,000
Website Management 1,000
Miscellaneous - postage, office supplies, etc. 750
Financial Advisory Fees 5,000
TOTAL FIXED EXPENDITURES 71,367$                                                                                                     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 72,367$                                                                                                     

REVENUES LESS EXPENDITURES 11,175$                                                                                                     

Bond/Loan Payments (Commercial) 0

BALANCE 11,175$                                                                                                     

Fees (Commercial) 0

Excess/ (Shortfall) 11,175$                                                                                                     

Program Reinvestment/Carryover Credit (10,000)

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 1,175$                                                                                                       

Projected Fiscal Year-End Fund Balance -$                                                                                                               
NOTE: A separate spreadsheet is kept to track provider specific carryover credit that can be applied to quarterly invoices. 

6/5/2023  5:07 PM III Page 26



PROPOSED BUDGET
 FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024
OCTOBER 1, 2023 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

(Residential Only)

FISCAL YEAR 
2023/2024

RESIDENTIAL BUDGET

REVENUES
Projected Carry Forward Surplus 100,000
O & M Funding Contributions 270,000
Loan Revenues (Residential) 18,540,000
Interest Income 300
TOTAL REVENUES 18,910,300$                                                                                             

VARIABLE EXPENDITURES
Assessment Roll 201,670
Miscellaneous 9,000
TOTAL VARIABLE EXPENDITURES 210,670$                                                                                                  

FIXED EXPENDITURES
Management 19,067
Legal 28,500
Audit Fees 7,500
Insurance 1,950
Legal Advertisements 4,500
New County Set-up Fee 500
Dues 600
Trustee Fees 2,000
Website Management 1,000
Miscellaneous - postage, office supplies, etc. 750
Financial Advisory Fees 5,000
TOTAL FIXED EXPENDITURES 71,367$                                                                                                    

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 282,037$                                                                                                  

REVENUES LESS EXPENDITURES 18,628,263$                                                                                             

Loan Payments (Residential) (18,280,000)

BALANCE 348,263$                                                                                                  

Fees (Residential) (260,000)

Excess/ (Shortfall) 88,263$                                                                                                    

Program Reinvestment (Residential) (100,000)

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) (11,737)$                                                                                                   

Projected Fiscal Year-End Fund Balance 88,263

Approx. Participants As Of June 2023: 20,176

Approx. Additions For 2023/2024: 7019

6/5/2023  5:07 PM IV Page 27



  FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 
PARTICIPANTS AS OF JUNE 2023

COMMENCING COMMENCING COMMENCING COMMENCING COMMENCING
FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR

COUNTY 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 TOTAL*

Alachua 9 2 5 2 0 49
Brevard 118 91 88 280 256 834
Broward 767 1,139 660 1,020 2,147 6,728
Charlotte 58 104 74 87 11 375

Citrus 27 23 28 66 81 226
Collier 30 12 0 0 0 51

Escambia 0 0 1 0 1 2
Hernando 105 90 34 0 0 238

Hillsborough 338 469 165 0 0 1,381
Indian River 0 0 0 1 1 2

Jefferson 0 0 1 0 0 1
Lake 0 0 0 1 0 1
Lee 16 48 13 44 89 210
Levy 2 4 5 4 7 24

Manatee 54 122 84 90 113 472
Marion 21 56 42 60 149 372
Martin 6 39 14 19 58 143

Miami-Dade 769 998 585 1358 2,253 6,193
Monroe 0 0 10 3 7 20

Okeechobee 0 0 0 5 18 23
Orange 35 49 61 34 35 239
Osceola 105 218 139 101 118 682

Palm Beach 380 774 449 580 1,334 3,704
Pasco 283 211 129 110 147 1,212
Polk 0 5 16 14 21 56

Sarasota 33 153 86 112 142 526
Seminole 3 10 12 3 11 43
Suwannee 0 0 0 0 1 1

Volusia 3 5 1 7 19 35
Sub-Total 3,162 4,622 2,702 4,001 7,019 23,843

Less Prepayments 567 885 988 1,002 0 3,667

Total 2,595 3,737 1,714 2,999 7,019 20,176

Notes: 
1. 2022/2023 prepayment numbers will continue to grow until the start of next year's enrollment.
2. 2023/2024 numbers are approximates (enrollment continues through June 2022).
3. 2023/2024 prepayments do not include any prepayments that occur between now and start of next year.
4. *Includes totals from years prior to those shown.

6/5/2023  5:07 PM V Page 28



  FLORIDA GREEN FINANCE AUTHORITY 
COMMERCIAL BONDS AS OF JUNE 2023

ORIGINAL CURRENT ANNUAL

PAR PAR MATURITY ASSESSMENT

BOND ISSUE AMOUNT AMOUNT DATE AMOUNT

Series 2014 Loan (E&M Spirits)
$46,550.00 $0.00 May 2023 $9,429.07

Series 2015-1 (Brandsmart Project)
$2,225,700.00 $0.00 ----- $0.00

Series 2018 (Dadeland Mall Project)
$2,595,468.73 $1,725,209.81 November 2028 $350,856.55

Series 2018A (Orlando Outlets Project)
$5,562,289.94 $4,967,014.62 November 2039 $496,899.34

Series 2020-A (Avid Viera)
$3,471,908.43 $0.00 November 2046 $294,927.30

Series 2020-B (Home 2-Palm Bay)
$3,930,000.00 $3,857,155.38 November 2046 $312,209.65

Series 2020-C (Hyatt-Palm Bay)
$5,643,500.00 $5,538,894.75 November 2046 $447,438.17

Series 2020-D (Pruitt Health - Lutz)
$3,340,018.09 $3,340,018.09 November 2047 $261,701.69

Series 2021-1 (Le Meridien)
$37,650,000.00 $37,650,000.00 November 2047 $2,689,983.39

Series 2021-2 (Sheraton - Palmetto)
$30,600,000.00 $30,600,000.00 November 2048 $2,418,304.48

Series 2022-1 (Pruitt Health - Pensacola)
$5,335,050.00 $5,335,050.00 November 2048 $422,279.36

Series 2022-2 (Certus Waterford Lakes)
$7,200,000.00 $7,200,000.00 November 2048 $572,722.58

Series 2022-3 (Spanish Moss Apartments)
$3,961,068.11 $3,961,068.11 November 2047 $0.00

Total $111,561,553.30 $104,174,410.76 $8,276,751.58

Note: 
BrandsMart Paid Off Series 2015-1 Bond In 2021.
Avid Viera Paid Off Series 2020-A Bond In 2023.

6/5/2023  5:07 PM VI Page 29



1 
 

 

 

To:    Florida Green Finance Authority Board 

Thru:  Keith Davis, Esq. & Mi y Barnard, Esq. 

From:  Erin Deady, Esq., Petros PACE Finance 
  Michael Yaki, Esq., Petros PACE Finance 
 
Date:  May 30, 2023 

Re:  Palm Beach County li ga on against the Florida PACE Funding Agency 

 

 

On April 18, 2023, Palm Beach County had a Board of County Commissioner  item briefing  the County 

Commission on ac vi es of the Florida PACE Funding Agency and the ini a on of li ga on against that 

PACE en ty.1  At that mee ng they passed a Resolu on finding that the Agency’s con nued opera on in 

PBC without an Interlocal Agreement, in viola on of their adopted Ordinance, is an immediate danger to 

the  health,  safety  and  welfare  of  the  public  and  compromises  legal  rights  of  the  County.    This 

memorandum summarizes the background and current status of Palm Beach County’s ac ons to date.  

Background 

This agenda  item and ac on  is  in  response  the Florida PACE Funding Agency’s second bond valida on 

(conducted and finalized  in  late 2022) where certain elements were  included within the final judgment 

that purported to provide authority to the Florida PACE Funding Agency to operate statewide without any 

enabling Ordinance or Resolu on from the underlying local government par cipa ng in their program and 

no execu on of an interlocal agreement to par cipate in their program and that the Agency could operate 

in  any  local  government  throughout  the  state  with  or  without  the  support  of  the  underlying  local 

government.    The  Florida  PACE  Funding  Agency’s  final  bond  judgment  included  other  elements,  but 

notably, also purports to authorize the expansion of qualifying improvements defined in Sec on 163.08, 

F.S. to include seawalls.  The Florida PACE Funding Agency sent a cer fied le er and brief memorandum 

to local governments throughout the state (in January 2023) informing them of the bond valida on final 

judgment and the le er provided no ce to terminate their exis ng interlocal agreements with numerous 

local  governments  upon  the  premise  that  they  no  longer  needed  that  authority  to  operate  in  the 

jurisdic ons.  Many local governments do not agree with the Florida PACE Funding Agency’s legal posi on 

that  their bond  valida on provides  this broad authority  to operate  statewide as  contemplated  in  the 

judgment.   

On March 7, 2023, Palm Beach County sent correspondence to the Florida PACE Funding Agency sta ng 

that  they did not have  the authority  to operate  in Palm Beach County without an executed  interlocal 

agreement and without complying with the County’s recently adopted Ordinance (November 15, 2022).  

 
1 It should be noted that similar li ga on is in process in Pinellas County (Case No. 23‐006631‐CI).  Given the Florida 
Green Finance Authority’s crea on within Palm Beach County, this memorandum focuses on that li ga on. 

Page 30



2 
 

The County demanded the Florida PACE Funding Agency cease and desist opera ons within the County, 

but from March 7 to April 11, 2023, the Florida PACE Funding Agency kept opera ng in the County and 

closed $4.4 million worth of PACE transac ons.  It is assumed they con nue to operate today. 

PBC Li ga on Against the Florida PACE Funding Agency 

On April 28, 2023, Palm Beach County filed a Verified Complaint for Declaratory and Injunc ve Relief and 

a Verified Mo on  for  a Temporary  Injunc on  (with  a Memorandum of  Law)  against  the  Florida PACE 

Funding Agency in Palm Beach County Circuit Court. 

1. Verified Complaint for Declaratory and Injunc ve Relief: 

This complaint seeks to challenge the Florida PACE Funding Agency’s con nued opera on in Palm Beach 

County  without  an  Interlocal  Agreement  contravening  its  adopted  PACE  Ordinance.    The  general 

allega ons are that the Florida PACE Funding Agency’s bond valida on “collateral findings”  in that final 

judgment exceed the statutory scope of a bond valida on proceeding as well as Sec on 163.08(4), F.S., 

the PACE Act  itself.   As such,  the County  is seeking a declara on  from  the court  that  the Florida PACE 

Funding Agency cannot operate within PBC without entering into an Interlocal Agreement with the County 

and compliance with the County’s November 2022 Ordinance and that the bond valida on judgment does 

not prevent the County from enforcing its Ordinance.  The County also seeks to enjoin the opera on of 

the Florida PACE Funding Agency within PBC and undertake anymore PACE financing transac ons. 

2. Verified Mo on for Temporary Injunc on and Incorporated Memorandum of Law: 

This Mo on expands upon  the  factual and  legal basis  for enjoining  the opera on of  the Florida PACE 

Funding Agency within PBC and provides legal authority for the basis to stop that opera on. 

Discussion of the Li ga on and the Interests of the Florida Green Finance Authority 

The Florida Green Finance Authority has an interest in this li ga on and its outcomes for mul ple reasons: 

1. The  issues  raised  in  the  Florida  PACE  Funding  Agency’s  bond  valida on  judgment  include 

numerous  cons tu onal  and  compe ve  issues  that  put  all  other  PACE  programs  at  a 

disadvantage. 

Explana on:  The Florida PACE Funding Agency’s bond valida on judgment arguably exceeds the scope of 

that type of proceeding by bestowing certain rights and opera onal advantages exclusively to that 

program.  Some of the legal arguments raised by the County are related to the cons tu onal rights of local 

governments with regard to the passage and enforcement of local law.  While some of these arguments 

do not apply directly to the Florida Green Finance Authority, the Authority does have an interest in 

maintaining PACE opera ons statewide consistent with how the program was always contemplated to 

operate, supplemental to local government home rule authority as currently contemplated in Sec on 

163.08, F.S.  Redefining PACE opera ons by ignoring those exis ng statutory procedures puts every other 

PACE program in Florida at a disadvantage.  The Florida Green Finance Authority has an interest in 

maintaining the current statutory interpreta ons of PACE procedures as currently included in Sec on 

163.08, F.S. and not allowing those to be redefined for one single program in a bond valida on proceeding.   

2. There is an interest in assuring that the integrity of the bond valida on process is maintained. 

Page 31



3 
 

Explana on:  The Florida Green Finance Authority undertook, like all PACE en es, the bond valida on 

process to provide legal support for funding PACE projects through the assessment repayment process.  

This was an expensive and me‐consuming process, which ul mately was appealed to the Florida Supreme 

Court by representa ves of the Florida PACE Funding Agency‐ the same en ty a emp ng to gain these 

advantages.  There currently are 6 such bond valida on judgments in existence in Florida.  All have 

conformed to the requirements of the scope of that proceeding except this latest one by the Florida PACE 

Funding Agency in 2022.  If their valida on judgment is upheld it provides the program with a compe ve 

advantage because not only can they avoid the process of entering into an interlocal agreement with the 

underlying government to par cipate in PACE, it eliminates the need for the passage of a Resolu on or 

Ordinance to operate a PACE program thus reducing the me and effort to launch PACE in a new jurisdic on 

for only them.  There are many jurisdic ons in which FGFA members are not able to compete, or in which 

we are working with jurisdic ons to accept our program, and yet FPFA members are going in to take deals 

and place assessments right now. Their legal theory is that they can operate anywhere in the state without 

mee ng this statutory provision.  None of the other programs would have these advantages. 

3. The bond valida on process  is not the appropriate  legal mechanism to expand PACE qualifying 

improvements. 

Explana on:  Sec on 163.08, F.S. is the legal statute defining how PACE operates in Florida including the 

defini on of the authorized qualifying improvements.  Legisla ve a empts have been made each year for 

the last 6 years to clarify and enhance consumer protec ons for residen al PACE, most recently recognize 

the differences between residen al and commercial PACE, and even expand the scope of defined qualifying 

improvements.  Allowing this Florida PACE Funding Agency bond valida on judgment to stand as wri en 

allows one specific PACE program to deviate from the statute and expand the scope of qualifying 

improvements to seawalls, thus giving their program another compe ve advantage outside of the 

statute. 

4. Partnerships, public policy and home rule are weakened for PACE opera ons. 

Explana on:  PACE has always been viewed as a program that operates in partnership with the underlying 

local governments.  The Florida PACE Funding Agency’s legal posi on is that they do not need any 

partnership with an underlying local government and can operate in a jurisdic on whether or not the local 

government even wants PACE at all or wants to regulate it on some level, for instance, with repor ng or 

consumer protec on standards.  This encroaches upon local government’s home rule with regard to 

enforcement of adopted or prospec ve PACE policy through Resolu ons or Ordinances, contemplated to 

be a threshold requirement to opera ng a PACE program at the me the statutory sec on was enacted in 

2010.  The legal interpreta on of the Florida PACE Funding Agency is the an thesis of how PACE has 

operated throughout Florida since its incep on. 

Poten al Ac ons the Florida Green Finance Authority Can Undertake 

The Florida Green Finance Authority can file an Amicus Curiae (“friend of the court”) brief in this case to 

support Palm Beach County’s posi on and help the court understand the interests at stake.  This brief does 

not have  to filed  immediately,  likely,  it would be at  some point a er  ini al  substan ve briefs are due 

further along in the li ga on.  The process would be to simply prepare the brief, consult with both par es 

in the li ga on (PBC and Florida PACE Funding Agency), and provide a statement as to their posi on for a 

party to file an Amicus Brief, coordinate with Palm Beach County legal staff on the issues poten ally raised 

Page 32



4 
 

in the brief and file a Mo on with the Circuit Court reques ng leave to file the brief.  It would not ma er 

that  the  Florida  PACE  Funding Agency  objects  to  the filing of  the Brief,  that  is ul mately  the  court’s 

decision.    There  is  no  other  eviden ary  or mo on  prac ce  required  for  the  Florida  Green  Finance 

Authority.  The brief can likely be prepared in house without the need to hire outside counsel.   

Another PACE provider (the Green Corridor reached out to Erin Deady) has raised the possibility of also 

filing an Amicus Brief in the proceeding.  This would be another op on:  to jointly file an Amicus Brief with 

another provider.  This should be subject to further strategic discussion about the pros and cons of joint 

versus separately filed, but coordinated, briefs. 

 

Page 33



1 

 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 

15TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR 

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO.:  

 

PALM BEACH COUNTY,  

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

FLORIDA PACE FUNDING AGENCY,  

Defendant. 

_____________________________/ 

 

PLAINTIFF, PALM BEACH COUNTY’S VERIFIED MOTION FOR 

TEMPORARY INJUNCTION AND INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 

Plaintiff, Palm Beach County, (County) by and through its undersigned counsel, moves 

this Court for entry of a temporary injunction pursuant to Rule 1.610(a), Florida Rules of Civil 

Procedure, requiring the Defendant, Florida PACE Funding Agency (FPFA) to immediately stop 

entering into financing agreements with residents of Palm Beach County until such time as re-

authorized by this Court. In support of its Motion the County states as follows:  

BACKGROUND 

1. On or about April 28, 2023, the County brought a declaratory and injunctive relief 

action to challenge FPFA’s continued operation within Palm Beach County without the benefit of 

an Interlocal Agreement and in violation of the County’s PACE Ordinance 2022-030 and general 

law. 1  

2. As part of its requested relief as it relates to Count II, the County asked this Court 

to temporarily enjoin FPFA from operating in the County unless and until it complies with the 

                                                           

1
 The allegations of the Verified Complaint state adequate and sufficient grounds for entry of a 

temporary injunction against FPFA. This motion will highlight the allegations that are particularly 

relevant to the County’s request for temporary injunction. 
 

Filing # 172060280 E-Filed 04/28/2023 04:11:31 PM

FILED: PALM BEACH COUNTY, FL, JOSEPH ABRUZZO, CLERK, 04/28/2023 04:11:31 PM 

**** CASE NUMBER: 502023CA009882XXXXMB Div: AO **** 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 34



2 

 

County’s PACE Ordinance, which, amongst other things requires FPFA to enter into an Interlocal 

Agreement with the County.  

3. The term “PACE” refers to a type of financing that is used for certain home 

improvements that consumers pay back through an assessment collected through their property 

taxes.  

4. Section 163.08, Florida Statutes, entitled “Supplemental authority for 

improvements to real property,” (PACE Act) creates the framework for PACE programs to operate 

in Florida. The statute provides a mechanism for property owners to voluntarily finance certain 

energy efficiency, renewable energy and wind resistance-qualifying improvements to their 

property, with local government assistance, and allows for PACE programs to levy non-ad valorem 

assessments.  

5. Defendant, FPFA is a PACE loan provider. It is an entity created by interlocal 

agreement in accordance with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes. It was created in June of 2011, by 

Interlocal Agreement Relating to the Establishment of the Florida PACE Funding Agency, and 

was established between Flagler County, Florida and the City of Kissimmee, Florida acting as 

original incorporators pursuant to section 163.01(7), Florida Statutes.  

6. Palm Beach County is a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and is a charter 

county, governed by the Palm Beach County Charter. The Charter establishes “true home rule” 

which gives the Board of County Commissioners (BCC) the ability to create local laws, through a 

local public hearing ordinance procedure, that are not in conflict with, or specifically prohibited 

by state general law or the Florida Constitution.  

7. On April 4, 2017, the County adopted the Palm Beach County Property Assessed 

Clean Energy (PACE) Program Ordinance No. 2017-012 (Original PACE Ordinance). The 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 35



3 

 

County’s stated intent in adopting the Ordinance was to “establish qualifications and consumer 

protection disclosure requirements for PACE programs that provide financing for qualifying 

improvements in accordance with section 163.08, Florida Statutes, and provisions of this 

Ordinance.” The Original PACE Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

8. On August 15, 2017, the County simultaneously executed a Resolution and an 

accompanying Interlocal Agreement (ILA), authorizing FPFA to levy non-ad valorem assessments 

on properties within Palm Beach County’s PACE boundaries.  The Resolution and Interlocal 

Agreement are attached here to as Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3. 

9. The ILA included specific terms and conditions for FPFA to operate within Palm 

Beach County. The ILA among other things, required that any program FPFA offered in the 

County and participating municipalities had to comply with program guidelines and consumer 

protections set forth in the PACE Ordinance, as may be amended from time to time. The ILA 

contained substantive consumer protection requirements that were material to the County’s 

decision to allow FPFA to conduct its program in accordance with the Palm Beach County Charter 

and Palm Beach County Code, and levy non-ad valorem special assessments in the County.  

10. On November 15, 2022, the County adopted and approved Ordinance 2022-030 

(Amended PACE Ordinance). The Amended PACE Ordinance clarified and strengthened 

qualifications and consumer protection and disclosure requirements for PACE programs that 

operate within Palm Beach County.  The Amended PACE Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit 

4.  

11. The Amended Ordinance has been adopted and codified in the Palm Beach 

County’s Code of Ordinances (County Code), in Chapter 17 “Licenses, Taxation and 

Miscellaneous Regulations, pursuant to the County’s home rule authority, effective November 16, 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 36



4 

 

2022.  

12. As with the Original PACE Ordinance, the Amended PACE Ordinance required 

that all PACE providers operating in Palm Beach County enter and operate in accordance with  

interlocal agreements with the County. Specifically, the Amended Ordinance provides that : 

PACE Agencies/Authorities/Districts and Third-Party Administrators 

offering financing for Qualifying Improvements on Residential and Non-

Residential Properties pursuant to this Article shall be approved by the 

County and authorized through interlocal agreements to provide financing 

subject to the requirements of this Article and the PACE Statute. A 

resolution indicating the County's desire to join a PACE 

Agency/Authority/District shall be prepared by County staff and presented 

to the Board for consideration with each interlocal agreement. The 

interlocal agreements shall include specific terms and conditions for 

PACE Agencies/Authorities/Districts and Third-Party Administrators to 

operate within Palm Beach County. 

 

13. On or about January 3, 2023, the County received a certified letter from FPFA, in 

which FPFA announced that it was immediately terminating its ILA with the County, citing to the 

County’s adoption of the Amended PACE Ordinance as grounds for the termination. The FPFA 

Letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

14. FPFA, in its letter, stated that though it was terminating the ILA, and would not 

participate in the regulatory structure that the County has established, that it would continue 

operating in the County based on its “independent authority” on a “uniform statewide basis” as 

recognized in a Bond Validation Final Judgment, issued in Case No. 2022-CA-1562, by the Circuit 

Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida (Leon County Circuit Court), 

on October 6, 2022. (“Final Judgment.”) The Final Judgment is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.  

15. Case No. 2022-CA-1562, Florida PACE Funding Agency v. State of Florida et. al.,  

was a bond validation proceeding, brought pursuant to Chapter 75 and section 163.01(7)(d), 

Florida Statutes. In its Complaint for Validation, FPFA sought to validate the total of Five Billion 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 37



5 

 

Dollars ($5,000,000,000) in FPFA Revenue Bonds.  

16. Generally, the purpose of a bond validation proceeding is to procure in advance 

final judicial determination of the validity of bonds issued by counties or other political 

subdivisions. As acknowledged in the Final Judgment, in a bond validation proceeding, a court 

has three tasks: it must determine 1) whether the bond issuer (FPFA) has legal authority to issue 

the contemplated indebtedness; 2) whether the purpose of the obligation is legal; and 3) whether 

the issuance complies with the requirements of law.  

17. Here, the Final Judgment included a number of collateral findings that went beyond 

the permissible scope of a bond validation proceeding, including a finding that FPFA may operate 

independent of local government regulation and cooperation, and has independent authority to 

impose non-ad valorem assessments statewide. Not only did this finding purport to eliminate Palm 

Beach County’s authority to regulate within Palm Beach County, but, it is also in direct conflict 

with the express language of the PACE Act, which specifically provides that “subject to local 

government ordinance or resolution, a property owner may apply to the local government for 

funding to finance a qualifying improvement and enter into a financing agreement with the local 

government.” §163.08(4), Fla. Stat.  More importantly, the legislature emphasized that “this 

section is additional and supplemental to county and municipal home rule authority and not in 

derogation of such authority or a limitation upon such authority.” §163.08(15), Fla. Stat.  

18. Despite FPFA’s failure to provide notice to the County or property owners in Palm 

Beach County, the collateral finding sought by FPFA and incorporated into the Final Judgment 

affects the rights and powers of the County and purports to eliminate the County’s authority to 

regulate the PACE program within Palm Beach County. 

19. On March 7, 2023, the County sent via certified mail correspondence to FPFA, in 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 38



6 

 

which the County acknowledged FPFA’s termination of the ILA. However, the County informed 

FPFA that it did not have the legal authority to continue operating in Palm Beach County without 

an executed Interlocal Agreement, and without complying with the consumer protection provisions 

of the Amended PACE Ordinance. The County’s Letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 7.  

20. The County demanded that FPFA immediately cease and desist its operations in 

Palm Beach County, and immediately stop executing new financing agreements with property 

owners in Palm Beach County.  

21. Notwithstanding the County’s letter, from March 7, 2023 to April 11, 2023, FPFA 

executed approximately 136 new loans in Palm Beach County, in the amount of approximately 4.4 

million dollars ($4,400,000.00) in total. 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 

Elements for a Temporary Injunction. 

 “To obtain a temporary injunction, the petitioner must satisfy a ‘four-part test under 

Florida law: a substantial likelihood of success on the merits; lack of an adequate remedy at law; 

irreparable harm absent the entry of an injunction; and that injunctive relief will serve the public 

interest.’” Reform Party of Fla. v. Black, 885 So.2d 303, 305 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Gainesville 

Woman Care, LLC v. State, 210 So. 3d 1243, 1258 (Fla. 2017)).  However, as will be discussed 

infra, “this showing [of factors required to support a grant of temporary injunction] is relaxed when 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 39



7 

 

an injunction is sought by a governmental entity to enforce its police powers2.”3   In such 

circumstances, the government entity need not come forth with proof to show irreparable harm or 

lack of an alternate remedy, instead, any legal remedy is ignored and irreparable harm is 

presumed.4 Further, Florida Courts have consistently held that the “substantial likelihood of 

success on the merits” prong is met where a party against whom the injunction is sought has 

violated a law, code or ordinance.5 Finally, under these this circumstances, as it relates to the 

“public interest” prong of the test, courts have consistently held that the public has an interest in 

seeing that its ordinances and city zoning plans are complied with. 

Here, all prongs of the temporary injunction test are met, and the County is entitled to its 

requested relief. 

  

                                                           

2
 “Police power” is the power of a local governmental body to impose laws and regulations which 

are reasonably related to the protection or promotion of a public good, such as health, safety, and 

welfare. Pursuant to section 125.86, Florida Statutes, the legislative responsibilities of a county is 

assigned and vested in the board of county commissioners, and includes the power and duty to 

 

(7) Adopt, pursuant to the provisions of the charter, such ordinances of countywide 

force and effect as are necessary for the health, safety, and welfare of the residents. It is 

the specific legislative intent to recognize that a county charter may properly determine 

that certain governmental areas are more conducive to uniform countywide enforcement 

and may provide the county government powers in relation to those areas as recognized 

and as may be amended from time to time by the people of that county; and 

 

(8) All other powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law as 

recognized by the Constitution and laws of the state and which have not been limited by 

the county charter. 
 
3 See Ware v. Polk County, 918 So.2d 977, 979 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). 
4 City of Miami v. City of Miami Firefighters' and Police Officers' Retirement Trust & Plan, 249 

So. 3d 709 (Fla. 3d DCA 2018); Manatee County v. 1187 Upper James of Florida, LLC, 104 So. 

3d 1118 (Fla. 2d DCA 2012); Rudge v. City of Stuart, 65 So. 3d 645 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011). 
5 See P.M. Realty & Invs., Inc. v. City of Tampa, 779 So.2d 404, 406.  (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 40

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2007846291&pubNum=0000735&originatingDoc=I976e3edca53011ecb759fa0f29537574&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_979&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=9a2038ce544b417fa9ad7a8e39455279&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_735_979


8 

 

A.  The County Has a Clear Legal Right to the Enforcement of its Ordinance. 

 

The “substantial likelihood of success on the merits” prong of the temporary injunction test 

is satisfied when the movant shows that it has a “clear legal right” to relief.  See, e.g., Keystone 

Creations, Inc. v. City of Delray Beach, 890 So.2d 1119, 1124 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). As it relates 

to local government, courts across Florida have uniformly held that a government has a clear legal 

right to a temporary injunction when it demonstrates that the opposing party is violating that local 

government’s code.  

In Keystone Creations, the City of Delray Beach sought a temporary injunction to enjoin 

the operations of a stonecutting business because of its ongoing violations of City ordinances and 

code. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the issuance of the temporary injunction. In 

discussing the “clear legal right” prong of the temporary injunction test, the court held that “in 

circumstances where one continues to operate a business while aware of ordinance violations, ‘the 

government has a clear legal right to relief.’” 890 So.2d at 1124. 

Like the Fourth District, courts across Florida have uniformly held that in considering the 

“substantial likelihood of prevailing on the merits” prong of the temporary injunctive relief test, 

that a government entity demonstrates a clear legal right to injunctive relief by showing that a party 

has violated a law, code, or ordinance. See e.g., O’Brien, 660 So.2d 364; Manatee County, 104 

So.3d at 1121; P.M. Realty & Invs., Inc. v. City of Tampa, 779 So.2d 404, 406 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); 

Dispoto v. Marion County, 969 So.2d 423 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). 

In Metropolitan Dade County v. O’Brien, the O’Briens established a business without 

complying with various county ordinances. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial 

court’s denial of a temporary injunction, holding, in relevant part, that under the circumstance 

where one opens a business aware of the violations to the ordinances and continues to operate that 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 41



9 

 

business in violation, the government has a clear legal right to relief. See 660 So.2d at 365.  

 In Manatee County v. 1187 Upper James of Florida, LLC, Manatee County sought to 

enjoin to temporary enjoin a restaurant that repeatedly violated a zoning ordinance to comply with 

the ordinance while the parties litigated the ordinance’s enforceability.  In reversing the trial 

court’s denial of a temporary injunction, the Second District Court of Appeal outlined the four 

prongs of injunctive relief and explained that the “only true disputed issue” was whether the county 

had a substantial likelihood of prevailing on the merits given the deference to municipalities when 

enforcing police power.  Manatee County, 104 So. 3d at 1121. When considering whether Manatee 

County was likely to succeed on the merits, the court held that “where one opens a business aware 

of the violations to the ordinances and continues to operate that business in violation, the 

government has a clear legal right to relief.” Id.  (Citing P.M. Realty & Invs., Inc. 779 So.2d at 

406). The court noted that the restaurant, despite having knowledge of the zoning restrictions was 

still operating “in clear defiance” of the restrictions in the zoning ordinance. Id. at 1118. The court 

concluded that the restaurant’s “continuing violation of a known ordinance gives the County a 

clear legal right to the issuance of the injunction.” Id. (Emphasis added).6 

The Fifth District Court of Appeal applied the prongs for temporary injunction in a similar 

manner in Dispoto v. Marion County, 969 So.2d 423 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). That case involved 

operation of a radio station and construction of a 130-foot broadcast tower without the permits 

                                                           

6 In rendering its decision, the court in Manatee County also relied on an earlier Second District 

decision in Ware v. Polk County, 918 So.2d 980. There, the court found that Polk County was 

entitled to temporary injunction against property owner’s use of structure constructed without a 
building permit.  Irreparable harm was presumed, the county’s alternative remedies were 
disregarded, because the county was seeking to enforce its police powers, the county had a clear 

legal right to relief in that the owner was aware that he was in violation of building code, and 

injunction would serve the public interest because public had an interest in having ordinances 

enforced. Id.  

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 42

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2029219917&pubNum=0003926&originatingDoc=I976e3edca53011ecb759fa0f29537574&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_3926_1121&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=fc28fd4488744525b39d8e9ab5d4f841&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_3926_1121
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2007846291&pubNum=0000735&originatingDoc=I976e3edca53011ecb759fa0f29537574&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_980&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=fc28fd4488744525b39d8e9ab5d4f841&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_735_980


10 

 

required by the county. Marion County sought injunctive relief to cease operation of the station 

and compel the owners to remove the tower since both acts were contrary to county regulations, 

which the trial court granted. Id. at 425. The Fifth District recited the four-prong temporary 

injunction standard and with regards to the “clear legal right” prong noted that “the County 

satisfied the third prong - that it had a clear legal right to relief - because the [property owners] 

were engaged in continuing violations of the County's building and zoning codes.” Id. (Citing to 

Ware, 918 So.2d at 980).  

Applying the standards outlined above, here, FPFA’s deliberate and continuing violation 

of the Amended PACE Ordinance gives the County a clear legal right to the issuance of the 

temporary injunction. The Ordinance was duly adopted and codified. It is an appropriate exercise 

of the County’s police power under as provided in section 125.86, Florida Statutes, and Section 

3.3 of the Palm Beach County Charter. The County’s PACE Ordinance is presumed valid, and the 

Court ought to indulge every reasonable presumption in favor of an ordinance’s enforceability. 

Hoesch v. Broward County, 53 So. 3d 1177, 1180 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011) (citing Lowe v. Broward 

County, 766 So. 2d 1199, 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)). This presumption is bolstered by the clear 

language in the PACE Act itself: placing PACE funding agreements subject to local government 

ordinance in section163.08(4) and subordinating the PACE Act to county home rule authority and 

expressly avoiding a reading of the PACE Act to be in derogation of or placing a limitation on 

such authority in section 163.08(16). It is further supported by the general principles that when an 

area of law is not preempted by state law, a county can pass ordinances concurrently on subjects 

regulated by state statute, and that an ordinance is not in conflict with a statute simply because it 

is more stringent that the statute, and that the more stringent ordinance is read to supplement the 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 43



11 

 

statute. Id. at 1179 (citing Jordan Chapel Freewill Baptist Church v. Dade County, 334 So. 2d 

661, 664-65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)). 

 It is undisputed that FPFA is knowingly and deliberately violating the PACE Act and the 

County’s PACE Ordinance. As a preliminary matter, FPFA expressly informed the County that it 

intended to operate in Palm Beach County without complying with the Amended PACE Ordinance 

in its January 3, 2023 Letter. The Ordinance requires that PACE providers that wish to do business 

in Palm Beach County must enter into an interlocal agreement with the County (and comply with 

a number of other enumerated consumer protection safeguards in the course of its operation). Here, 

FPFA terminated the interlocal agreement and since then, to the present day, has continued to issue 

PACE financing loans to citizens of Palm Beach County. FPFA has continued its illegal operations 

even after being informed by the County that FPFA’s actions were in direct violation of County’s 

PACE Ordinance. 7 In light of the foregoing, the County has a clear legal right to a temporary 

injunction. 

  

                                                           

7 Further, it should be noted that FPFA relies on the collateral finding in the Final Judgment to 

support its willing violation of the PACE Act and the County’s PACE Ordinance. This collateral 

finding sought by FPFA and incorporated into the Bond Validation Final Judgment affects the 

rights and powers of Palm Beach County and property owners within Palm Beach County, and 

purports to eliminate Palm Beach County’s authority to regulate within Palm Beach County.  
 

In addition, FPFA’s attempt to usurp the County’s police power through its bond validation made 

the County an indispensable party to that action. Yet the County was not named as a defendant, 

was never put on notice of the action, and was not aware of it until FPFA’s January 3, 2023 letter 
informed the County, for the first time, of the Final Judgment. A judgment is void for ailing to join 

indispensable parties. Toyano’s Auto Repair Svcs. v. Southern Auto Finance Co., LLC, 331 So 3d. 

186, 188 (Fla. 4th DCA 2021) (citing Citibank, N.A. v. Villanueva, 174 So. 3d 612, 614 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2015). An indispensable party “has a due process right to defend the suit in the same way 
any other named party to civil litigation has a due process right to defend.” Id. at 188-89 (internal 

citations omitted).  

 

 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 44



12 

 

B. The County’s Status as a Governmental Entity Obviates the Need to Show a Lack 
of an Adequate Remedy at Law or Irreparable Harm. 

 

The County likewise satisfies the “irreparable harm” and “lack of adequate remedy” prongs  

of the temporary injunction test because it is well established that “[w]here the government seeks 

an injunction in order to enforce its police power, any alternative legal remedy is ignored and 

irreparable harm is presumed.”  O'Brien, 660 So.2d 365 (citing to the Florida Supreme Court’s 

decision in Rich v. Ryals, 212 So.2d 641 (Fla.1968); Florida Dep’t of Envtl. Regulation v. 

Kaszyk, 590 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Harvey v. Wittenberg, 384 So.2d 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 

1980)).  

In Keystone Creations, the Fourth District, relying on the O’Brien decision, found that the 

inadequate remedy at law prong of the temporary injunction test was satisfied in circumstances 

“where the government seeks an injunction to enforce its police power.” 890 So.2d 1124. The 

Court noted that in these circumstances, money damages would be inadequate to keep the 

contractor from violating the county code. Id. The Court further found that because the contractor 

was conducting its stonecutting business without complying with the county ordinance that 

“[i]rreparable harm must be presumed in this case.” Id. 

The Courts in the Manatee County, Ware, Dispoto reached similar conclusions, holding, 

in each case, that the respective government petitioner did not need to demonstrate an alternative 

legal remedy or irreparable harm because they sought to enforce their police power. See Manatee 

County 104 So.3d at 1118; Ware, 918 So.2d at 979; Dispoto, 969 So.2d at 425.8 

                                                           

8 See also, Miami-Dade County v. Fernandez, 905 So.2d 213; 215 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) (presuming 

irreparable harm where governmental entity seeks "to enforce its police powers"); Rudge v. City 

of Stuart, 65 So. 3d 645 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011). 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 45



13 

 

Here, as discussed, the Amended PACE Ordinance was enacted pursuant to the County’s 

lawful exercise of its police power. In seeking this injunction, and requiring compliance with 

county code, the County is only seeking to enforce its police powers.  

Based on the foregoing, the County satisfies the “lack of an adequate remedy at law” and 

“irreparable harm” elements of the test for a temporary injunction.  

C. The Injunction Will Serve the Public Interest. 

The County also satisfies the fourth prong of the temporary injunction test: that the grant 

of a temporary injunction will serve the public interest because it is well established in Florida law 

that that the public has an interest in the enforcement of lawfully enacted ordinances. See Keystone, 

890 So. 2d at 1125 (citing P.M. Realty & Invs., Inc. v. City of Tampa, 779 So.2d at 404, 406).  

A review of Keystone, O’Brien, Manatee County, Ware and Dispoto decisions shows that 

the test as to whether a temporary injunction will serve the public interest as it relates to a local 

government does not require that the local government make a showing of negative impact in a 

specific case. In Keystone, for example, the contractor argued that there was no evidence that its 

operations were dangerous or posed a danger or harm to the community. 890 So.2d at 1125. The 

Fourth District rejected this argument as being applicable to a local government trying to enforce 

its ordinances, stating that: 

 “Keystone argues that the injunction [will] disserve the public because 

there is no evidence that its operations were dangerous, or posed a danger 

of harm to the community. However, because the public has an interest in 

seeing that city ordinances and zoning plans are complied with, the issuance 

of an injunction here does serve the public interest… The public has an 

interest in seeing that its ordinances and city zoning plans are complied 

with.”  Id. (citing to P.M. Realty & Invs., Inc. v. City of Tampa, 779 So. 2d 

404, 406 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)). 

 

The court in Manatee County court reached a similar conclusion, stating that “an injunction 

merely requiring compliance with binding laws cannot be said to unduly harm [a business owner] 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 46



14 

 

or to be a disservice to the public.”  Manatee County, 104 So.3d at 1121.  

Further, in this case, Palm Beach County enacted the Amended PACE Ordinance 

specifically to protect the citizens of Palm Beach County in their dealings with PACE loan 

providers. Certainly, public interest is furthered by the County’s requiring that FPFA operate in 

compliance with a consumer protection  ordinance.  

Finally, here, Palm Beach County’s Charter, which was voted on and passed by the public, 

reflects the will of the people and expressly gives the County the right to adopt ordinances to 

protect the public’s health, safety, and welfare, such as the PACE Ordinance. By upholding the 

Charter, the injunctive relief sought herein will further the public interest. 

For the foregoing reasons, the issuance of a temporary injunction will serve the public 

interest.  

D. No Bond Should Be Required. 

Although a bond is ordinarily required for the entry of a temporary injunction, a court, in 

its discretion and with due regard for the public interest, is authorized to dispense with the bond 

requirement when the injunction is issued “on the pleading of a municipality or the state or any 

officer, agency, or political subdivision thereof.”  Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.610(b); see also Lieberman v. 

Marshall, 236 So.2d 120, 125 (1970) (“The rule also provides for bond, dispensable if the 

injunction is sought by a public agency. A state university is such an agency, and the trial judge 

had authority to issue the injunction without requiring bond.”); Sunshine State News Co. v. State, 

121 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960) (affirming order denying application for bond to be posted on 

behalf of state as a condition of issuing injunction). The reasons for not requiring a bond from such 

governmental entities are that they are “presumed to be financially responsible” and “to save the 

[government] the expense, inconvenience, and delay in obtaining such a bond.” Provident 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 47



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 48



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 49



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 50

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 51



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 52



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 53



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 54



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 55



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 56



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 57



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 58



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 59



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 60



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 61

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 62



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 63

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 64



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 65



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 66



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 67



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 68



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 69



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 70



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 71



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 72



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 73



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 74



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 75



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 76



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 77



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 78



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 79



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 80



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 81

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 82



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 83



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 84



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 85



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 86



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 87



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 88



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 89



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 90



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 91



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 92



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 93



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 94



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 95



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 96



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 97



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 98



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 99



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 100



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 101



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 102



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 103

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 104



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 105



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 106



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 107



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 108



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 109



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 110

ldennis



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 111



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 112



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 113



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 114



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 115



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 116



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 117



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 118



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 119



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 120



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 121



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 122



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 123



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 124



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 125



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 126



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 127



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 128



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 129



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 130



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 131



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 132



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 133



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 134



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 135



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 136



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 137



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 138



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 139



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 140



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 141



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 142



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 143



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 144



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 145



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 146



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 147



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 148



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 149



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 150



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 151



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 152



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 153



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 154



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 155



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 156



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 157

ldennis



Filing # 172060280 E-Filed 04/28/2023 04:11:31 PM

FILED: PALM BEACH COUNTY, FL, JOSEPH ABRUZZO, CLERK, 04/28/2023 04:11:31 PM 

**** CASE NUMBER: 502023CA009882XXXXMB Div: AO **** 

NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 158



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 159



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 160



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 161



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 162



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 163



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 164



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 165



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 166



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 167



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 168



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 169



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 170



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 171



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 172



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 173



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 174



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 175



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 176



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 177



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 178



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 179



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 180



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 181



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 182



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 183



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 184



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 185



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 186



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 187



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 188



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 189



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 190



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 191



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 192



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 193



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 194



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 195



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 196



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 197



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 198



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 199



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 200



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 201



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 202



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 203



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 204



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 205



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 206



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 207



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 208



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 209



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 210



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 211



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 212



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 213



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 214



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 215



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 216



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 217



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 218



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 219



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 220



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 221



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 222



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 223



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 224



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 225



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 226



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 227



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 228



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 229



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 230



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 231



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 232



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 233



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 234



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 235



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 236



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 237



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 238



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 239



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 240



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 241



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 242



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 243



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 244



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 245



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 246



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 247



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 248



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 249



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 250



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 251



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 252



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 253



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 254



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 255



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 256



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 257



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 258



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 259



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 260



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 261



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 262



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 263



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 264



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 265



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 266



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 267



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 268



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 269



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 270



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 271



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 272



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 273



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 274



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 275



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 276



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 277



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 278



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 279



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 280



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 281



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 282



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 283



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 284



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 285



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 286



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 287



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 288



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 289



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 290



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 291



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 292



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 293



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 294



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 295



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 296



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 297



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 298



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 299



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 300



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 301



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 302



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 303



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 304



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 305



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 306



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 307



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 308



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 309



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 310



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 311



NOT A
 CERTIFIE

D COPY

Page 312


	Florida Green Finance Authority - June 8, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-03 – Reorganizing the Board
	March 2, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Status/Program Update – Information Report
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-04 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2021/2022 Amended Budget
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-05 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Proposed Budget
	Discussion of Palm Beach County Litigation Re: Florida PACE Funding Agency and Direction on Amicus Curiae Brief




